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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
NORTHERN DIVISION
KIMBERLY C. WOOD,
Plaintiff, CaseNo. 14-cv-13049

V. Honorabl@homasL. Ludington

THE DOW CHEMICAL COMPANY,
ANDREW LIVERIS, and CHARLES J. KALIL,

Defendants.

/

OPINION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDA NTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiff Kimberly C. Wood filed her aqaplaint against Defendants Dow Chemical,
Andrew N. Liveris, Dow’s Chief Executive @fer, and Charles J. Kalil, Dow's General
Counsel, on August 6, 2014. Woadleges a single claim for refi she contends that her
employment was terminated in retaliation &ativity protected by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ECF No. 1, at 11. On October 6, 2014, Defesdiatt a motion to dismiss, ECF No. 14,
claiming that Wood has failed to state a claimwdnch relief can be granted against any of the
three defendants. Because Wood sufficiently pleadiim for relief against Defendants, their
motion to dismiss will be denied.

l.

Plaintiff Kimberly C. Wood is a forer employee of Defendant Dow Chemical

Company. She worked at Dow for twenty-five yeprior to her separain from the company in

October, 2013. ECF No. 1 at { 8.
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A.

Wood began her career with Dow “as a tedbgist in the Miclgan Division Design
Latex and Researchlt. at 1 13. From there she joinedté&rnational Accounting, where her
duties included ESPP, payroll, gal ledger and consolidationsd. at { 14. Eventually she
was transferred to the Gumorate Controller’s Officeld. at § 15. She claims to be “the first
accountant Defendant Dow employed whose joltieduwere fully dedicated to corporate
treasury financial instrumentsltl. According to Wood, throughouter career her “job duties
also included working with financial instrumentnterest rates, risk management, hedging, long-
term debt, commercial papers, futsirand related financial scheduldsl”at I 16.

Wood also claims to havegsiificant training and expemnce in fraudand accounting.
She holds a master’'s degree it@mting from Central Michigan University and is a certified
fraud examiner and certified management accounkdnat § 9-10. Wood also claims to have
been a “former Vice-Chairperson of the Anoan Society of Industrial Security Economic
Crime Council.”ld. at  11. In addition, she “has spolanwo nation-wide fraud conferences
held by the Association @ertified Fraud Examinersld. at { 12.

Wood’s most recent position with Bowas as a fraud investigatad. at § 26. She had
worked in thatposition since 2001ld. Her job duties required he'to conduct internal
investigations and report henflings to her supervisors, inding Defendant Dow’s Corporate
Auditor[.]” I1d. She claims that she worked “with a group of individuals that operated under three
different titles: (1) Asset Prettion and Recovery; (2) Fraudvkstigative Services; and (3)

Corporate Investigations Grougd. at § 27.



B.

While working as fraud investigator, Woodaiths she “assisted in multiple investigation
[sic] into conduct that [she]emsonably believed to constitutgolations of Securities and
Exchange Commission rules amégulations, Federal statute®lating to fraud against
shareholders, and Defendant Dow’s Code of Conduct and other polidest I 29. Wood
identifies seven specific instances of conducictvlshe investigated and on which she reported:
(1) a construction project for the H Hotel which exceeded budget by $13,000,000.00 and resulted
in the retaliatory termination of a Dow empé®; (2) unreported personal expenditures made by
Dow for Mr. Liveris, which ledo Mr. Liveris reimbursing Dow filowing her report; (3) further
personal expenses of Mr. Liverthat were paid by Dow buwthich went unreimbursed; (4)
payments by Dow, at Mr. Liveris’ direction, fthe Hellenic Initiative(*THI”), Mr. Liveris’
charity and Prinkipos, a charipwned by the Greek Orthodox Chhbr (5) excessive use of the
Dow corporate jet and further involvement Mf. Liveris’ and Dow’s funds with the Greek
Orthodox Church and Prinkipos; (6) improper acdmgnpractices on the Olefins Il project to

hide cost overruns; and (7) financial staent fraud with the Olefins Il projedd. at 30"

! Plaintiff's complaint reads as follows:

€)) That Plaintiff participated in an investigation, along with her supervisor, Simon
Solano, Director of Corporate Investigations Group, into and reported on Defendant Dow'’s
expenses in the renovation projedttthe H Hotel, including discovering and reporting that the
project had exceeded the oridigaauthorized budgeby $13,000,00.00, the nvolvement of
Defendant LIVERIS’s wife and her friend, ancettetaliation against a Dow employee, Michael
Hayes, who had taken efforts to limit Defendant LIVERIS’s wife involvement in the renovation,
which specifically included evidence that Defant LIVERIS had instructed Defendant KALIL
that it was “time for retirement” for Mr. Hayes.

(b) That Plaintiff reported to Doug Anderson, Corporate Auditor, and Mr. Solano
the findings of an investigation Plaintiff corttad into the personal expenses of Defendant
LIVERIS, entitled “Customer Events Compliance Investigation,” that revealed $719,000.00 worth
of unreported personal expenses by Defendant LIVERI®I, as a result, lead to further
investigations into Defendant LIVERIS’s expessand the requirement that Defendant LIVERIS
reimburse those monies to Defendant Dow; following this report, Plaintiff was instructed “that
nothing from the CEQ'’s past was to be looked at again and the investigation was over.”
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Wood claims that her repamy activity alerted her supersrto the possibility that
Defendant Dow was violatg various federal securities laws and regulatitthsat § 32. Wood
further claims that heactivity is protectedinder the Act but that despif@s, her reporting upset
Dow employees including Defendants LiverisdaKalil who began a pattern of retaliatory

conduct which ended with the termination of her employment.

[Wood footnotes the preceding allegation with the following: “Examples of the
unreported personal entertainment expenses included: (1) a paid vacation for Defendant LIVERIS
and his family to attend a safari in Africa; ®218,938.00 in expenses for a trip for Defendant
LIVERIS and his family to the 2010 Super Bowl; (3) a paid trip to the 2010 World Cup in South
Africa for Defendant LIVERIS and his family; and (4) a paid trip to the 2010 Masters’
Tournament for Defendant LIVERIS and his family.”]

(c) That Plaintiff conducted another investigation into Defendant LIVERIS's
personal expenses and reported that Defendant Dow had paid for Defendant LIVERIS’s son's
school’s intramural basketball jerseys; howedmfendant LIVERIS did not reimburse Defendant
Dow for the monies expended.

(d) That Plaintiff reported to Jeff Tat€prporate Auditor, and Mr. Solano, through
a series of memoranda dated September 20, 2012, January 23, 2013, and August 2, 2013, that her
investigation revealed that it appeared tBafendant LIVERIS, through Defendant Dow, had
been funneling money by making payments and covering expenses for The Hellenic Initiative
(“THI"), Defendant LIVERIS’s charity, by falsely identifying those payments as routine business
expenses, and that the THI investigation had redeallack of integrityn financial records, a
conflict of interest between Defendant Dow and Defendant LIVERIS'’s involvement with and the
donations to THI, concerns about due diligenceeiation to Defendant Dow’s contracts with a
particular vendor, and Defendant Dow’s expenditures on THI and Prinkipos, a charity byne
the Greek Orthodox Chein, exceeded $120,000 artderefore, Defendant Dow failed to comply
with 17 C.F.R. part 229, Item 404 Regulation S-K, and the mandated disclosure.

(e) That Plaintiff further investigatethe excessive use of Defendant Dow's
corporate jet and the involvement of Defendant LIVERIS and Dow Assets with regards to the
Greek Orthodox Church and Prinkopos.

()] That Plaintiff investigated and repedt to Jeff Tate, Corporate Auditor, and Mr.
Solano the findings of the Olefins Il Project investigation, that revealed project managers were
purposefully moving expenses to capital to hide cost overruns with the approvaboftaesiness
management, a cost accountant admitted to moving $3,800,000.00 from expenses to capital,
employees had intentionally changed purchase orders, and that the cumulative dollar value of the
movements could reach $34,000,000.00.

(9) That on October 9, 2013, Plaintiff reported to her direct supervisor, Mr. Solano,
that the investigation into the Olefins Il Projectaaled that there was financial statement fraud.

ECF No. 1 at 1 30.



C.

According to Wood, following a number bakr reports and investigations “Defendants
and their employees and/or agents made thinggd and intimidating comments towards [her.]”

Id. at 1 33. Wood claims that these commentsuaexd being directed by supervisors away from
current investigations, at times permanently; learning that Defendant Kalil “wanted her fired”;
and being informed of her impending terminatitah?

The culmination of this retaliatory bavior, according to Wood, was that she was
informed on October 10, 2013—the day after sigorted an instance dihancial statement
fraud—“that her employment with Defendddbw would be terminated on October 31, 2013.”
Id. at § 34. Wood claims thathe protested her separatimom Dow but that she was

nevertheless provided with a severance packegat 35

2 Plaintiff's complaint reads, in pertinent part:

@ That following Plaintiff's reports on the Customers Events Compliance
Investigation, Plaintiff was instructed by a supervisor Greg Groholski “that nothing from the
CEO'’s past was to be looked at agaim that the investigation was over.”

(b) That following Plaintiff's third THI Report, dated August 2, 2013, Defendant
Kalil, told Plaintiff's supervisor that he “wanted her fired.”

(c) That another of Plaintiff's supervisodgeff Tate, instructed Plaintiff to “back off
the investigation” pertaining to Defendant LIVERIS and that “nothing was going to be dohe” wit
Plaintiff's THI reports.

(d) That the day after Plaintiff reported to her immediate supervisor, Mr. Solano,
that the Olefins Il investigation revealed finah@ttement fraud, Plaiffitivas informed that her
employment would end on October 31, 2013.

ECF No. 1 at 1 33.
% 1t should be noted that nothing in Wood’s complaitistattached exhibit, Defendants’ motion to dismiss,
or any subsequent briefing on the motion explain the exact circumstances of Wood's separation frono@bw. W

alleges in her complaint both actual and constructive discharge but nothing reflects whether her employment was
terminated as allegedly planned on October 31, 2013 or if, after hearing of her imgendingtion, she resigned.
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D.

Defendant Dow Chemical Company is a Deleav@orporation with its principal place of
business located in Midland County, Michigada. at 2. Dow “was and is a company with a
class of securities registered under sectionflthe Securities anBxchange Act of 1934][.]id.
at 1 45. Defendants Liveris andIKare both “officers, employees, and/or agent[s] of Defendant
Dow.” Id. at 1 46-47.

I.

A complaint is to be dismisdeif it “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted.” [ED. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). A pleading fails to &t a claim if it does not contain
allegations that support recovery en@ny recognizable legal theoAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S.
662, 678 (2009). In considering alRd2(b)(6) motion, the Court reticonstrue the pleading in
the non-movant’'s favor and accepts thkegdtions of factdherein as trueSee Lambert v.
Hartman 517 F.3d 433, 439 (6th Cir. 2008). The pleadeed not have pvided “detailed
factual allegations” to survive dismissal, but the “obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his
‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more than lddand conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of
the elements of a cause of action will not dgell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)y650 U.S. 544, 555
(2007). In essence, the pleading “must contain saffidiactual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state
a claim to relief that is plausible on its facddbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotinfwombly 550 U.S.
at 570).

This standard is forgiving: “a well-pleaded complaint may proceed even if it strikes a
savvy judge that actual proof of those facts is mbpble, and that a recayds very remote and
unlikely.” Id. (internal quotation marks araitations omitted). While botlhgbal and Twombly

demand a certain level of specificity in pleaglimeither case fundamaelly altered the basic



requirements for pleading a claim for relief. Although not explicitly provided for in the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, parties may plead on the basis of information and belief “where the
facts are peculiarly within thpossession and control of the defant or where the belief is
based on factual information that makes ithiference of culpability plausible[.Rrista Records,

LLC v. Doe 3604 F.3d 110, 120 (2d Cir. 2010) (internal citations omitted).

Importantly, “the 12(b)(6) motion does not attathe merits of the case. It merely
challenges the pleader’s failure to state a claim propevigdre v. Johnsar826 F. Supp. 1106,
1108 (W.D. Mich. 1993) (citing 5c Fed. Prac.R&oc. Civ. 8 1364 (3d ed.)). “Such motions
assume the truth of a pleading’s factual alliege and test only its legal sufficiencycCall v.
Pataki 232 F.3d 321, 322 (2d Cir. 2000). A motion temdiss “presents a pure legal question,
based on allegations contained withiae tbur corners of the complaint[.(3oldberg v. Danaher
599 F.3d 181, 183 (2d Cir. 2010). So while the complg party is permitted an opportunity to
respond to a motion to dismiss, the sufficiencyhef complaint is a matter of law for the district
court to resolveMcCall, 232 F.3d at 322.

.

Plaintiff Wood brings her sole claim under the whistlaer provision of Sarbanes-
Oxley. She claims that she was fired in retadiatfor reporting suspected violations of federal
securities laws. Under Sarbanes-Oxley, puplittaded companies are prohibited from
discriminating or retaliating ajnst employees who act as whistleblowers. The Act defines
whistleblowing as:

(1) to provide information, cause infortian to be provided, ootherwise assist

in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably believes

constitutes a violation of section 11341343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation

of the Securities and Exchange Corssion, or any provision of Federal law

relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or assistance is
provided to or the invegfation is conducted by—
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(A) a Federal regulatory or law enforcement agency;
(B) any Member of Congress any committee of Congress; or

(C) a person with supesory authority over themployee (or such other
person working for the employer who shéhe authority to investigate,
discover, or terminate misconduct); or

(2) to file, cause to be filed, testify, participate in, or otherwise assist in a
proceeding filed or about to be fle(with any knowledge of the employer)
relating to an alleged violation skction 1341, 1343, 1344, ©848, any rule or
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of
Federal law relating todud against shareholders.

18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A.

Defendants have filed a motiem dismiss, claiming that Woduhs failed to state a claim
upon which relief may be granted under 8 1514A of the Act.

To prevail on a claim of retaliation mwant to 8 1514A, the plaintiff must show

that: [“](1) he or she agaged in a protected activjtf?) the employer knew that

he or she engaged in the protected actiBY he or she suffered an unfavorable

personnel action; and (4) the protectetivilg was a contribuhg factor in the
unfavorable action.[”]

Nielsen v. AECOM Tech. Cor62 F.3d 214, 219 (2d Cir. 2014) (quotiBgchtel v. Admin.
Review Bd., U.S. Dep't of Lahor10 F.3d 443, 451 (2d Cir. 2013)). Defendants allege in their
motion to dismiss that Wood’s complaint failsrtet each one of these pleading requirements,
either with respect to Dow Chemical or tndividually named defendants. ECF No. 14 at ii.
A.

The first requirement to plead a claim under Act is that a plaintiff must allege that
“he or she engaged in a protected activityiélsen 762 F.3d at 219. Defendants claim that “the
allegations of the complaint are insufficient to plausibly allege that plaintiff had an ‘objectively
reasonable’ belief that she had rgpd a violation of any relevastatute[.]” ECANo. 14 at ii.

The Act itself explicitly protects “gnlawful act done by [an] employee”:



. . . to provide information, cause infortiza to be provided, or otherwise assist

in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably believes
constitutes a violation of section 11341343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation

of the Securities and Exchange Corssion, or any provision of Federal law
relating to fraud against shareholders.]

18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A. Defendants rethe statute as requiring that Wood'’s reports be “related to
conduct that [she] reasonably believed to be atiam of a relevant sedties law or regulation
specified in the statute.” ECF No. 14 at 17. Bus reading ignores the statute’s phrasing that
“any provision of Federal law relating to fraadjainst shareholders” can form the basis of
protected activity. 18 U.S.C.A. 8§ 1514A. Thus,lasg as an individuahlleging retaliatory
discharge under the Act can show a reasonabléf liedie“any provision of Federal law relating
to fraud against shareholders” was violated, he or she has stated dctlesee also Villanueva

v. U.S. Dep't of Labqr743 F.3d 103, 108-09 (5th Cir. 201#%ection 806 prohibits retaliation
only if the employee provides information regardounduct that he or she reasonably believes
violates one of six enumeratedtegories of U.S. law.”).

For a plaintiff to prove, at the pleading stage, that he or she engaged in protected activity
the pleading must meet bottsabjective and objective tedlielsen 762 F.3d at 221. “That is to
say, a plaintiff ‘must show not only that he legkd that the conduct constituted a violation, but
also that a reasonable persorhis position would have believetat the conduct constituted a
violation.” 1d. (quoting Livingston v. Wyeth, Inc520 F.3d 344, 352 (4th Cir.2008)). A
“plaintiff's particular educatioal background and sophisticatios][relevant tothe subjective
component./Day v. Staples, Inc555 F.3d 42, 54 n.10 (1st Cir. 200Burther, “[tjhe employee
is not required to show that there wasaatual violation of the provision involvedld. at 55.

Also, an employee need not “cite a cagetion he believes was violateéraser v. Fiduciary
Trust Co. Int'| 417 F. Supp. 2d 310, 322 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). “General inquiries” by an employee,

however, do not constitiel protected activityld.
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Defendants allege that Wood usable “to plausilyl allege a reasonablbelief that the
conduct she reported was an actual or poterftialid upon shareholdefSCF No. 14 at 18. The
Second Circuit, inNielsen confronted a claim that the phff, Nielsen, could not meet the
reasonable objective belief standard under the AcNiétsen the complaint alleged that the
plaintiff “reasonably believed #t defendants were committifigaud upon [their] shareholders
and would likely continue violating the Unitestates mail and wire fraud statutes by using
telephone lines and emails in furtherance of the frabiglsen 762 F.3d at 222. Such an
allegation was not sufficient to state a claim unthee Act that the platiff was engaged in
protected activity.

The Second Circuit noted that “Nielsen has plausibly pled an objectively reasonable
belief that AECOM [(the defendant)] engaged inlawire fraud, as both require a scheme to
steal money or property—allegations that do not appear in the compldinElrther, Nielsen
did not show “that it was objectively reasonableb@dieve that the conduct he complained of
constituted shareholder fraud. In essence, Nieddleges that a single employee failed properly
to review fire safety designsld. Nielsen did not plead that faderal statuteor regulation
required the type of fire safety review theds not performed, that the defendant had submitted
the fire safety designs to an outside body for review, “or even that the allegedly inadequate fire
safety review posed any specified safety hazddl."Thus, Nielsen could have overcome his
conclusory allegation that the defendants wammmitting fraud upon shareholders by alleging
some facts that support a reasonable belief of a specific instance of fraud. Nielsen’s failure to do
so was fatal to his complaint. Tidielsencourt then proceeded to highlight examples of well-

pleaded allegations of peatted activity and those cases are instructive here.
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The Third Circuit’'s decision ifwiest v. Lynclprovides instructioior understanding the
type of facts that must be pled to satisfg thbjective belief standard. 710 F.3d 121 (3rd Cir.
2013). InWiest the plaintiff alleged fivedifferent reports that ewtituted protected activity
under the Act. Wiest alleged in his complaint that‘worked for approximately thirty-one years
in Tyco’s accounting departmeumntil his termination in April 2010.Wiest 710 F.3d at 124. He
also claimed that his office was being closely 8oized as a result of a corporate scandal at his
employer’s parent companid. Leading up to his termination, and from “around 2007, Wiest
established a pattern of rejmgt and questioning expenses thailed to satisfy accounting
standards or secuet and tax lawsWiest 710 F.3d at 124 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Wiest alleged that the defendants improperly handled the documentation and accounting
of three separate events: the Atlantis Redfrent, the Venetian Resort Event, and the
Wintegreen Resort Evenld. at 135-36. He also alleged that he alerted his employer to the
improper expenses submitted by an employee and the associated tax consequences, and “that he
‘raised questions’ about propeccaunting treatment of other ewsrthat occurré between late
2007 and September 2009[I{. at 137. The Third Circuit analyzed each of these allegations
separately.

With respect to the Atlantis Resort evettie Third Circuit held that the complaint
properly pleaded allegations of protected \afsti because Wiest reasonably believed that
activities he reported constituted violationglué provisions enumerated in § 806 of the Adtt.
at 135-37. Wiest had “refused to process a payamgshisent an email toshsupervisor regarding
an event that Tyco intended to hold at tA#antis Resort in the Bahamas” because he
“belie[ved] that the costs were inappropriatelyarged entirely aadvertising expensest. at

124. The defendant’s management eventually determined that reimbursing the event as initially

-11 -



charged would have resulted in a fraudulent fithmg and that the event would have to be
reported as income to its employekk. The Third Circuit wrote that “[a] reasonable person in
Wiest's position who had seen thepense request for the extravagant Atlantis event could have
believed that treating the Atlantis event as airless expense violated a provision of Section
806[.]” Id. at 135.

As to the Venetian Resort event, Wiest's\att involved directinga subordinate to send
an email to the employee who submitted the retggoeimform that employee that the request for
payment would not be processed without more informatidn.at 124. Eventually, the
information was provided and Tyco’s tax depaht decided that the expense request was a
related to a propebusiness purposkl. On these facts the THiCircuit concluded that

Even if the facts in the Complaint established that Wiest subjectively believed the

expense request for the Venetian eventdbalve violated @rovision in Section

806, . . . objectively, a reasonablergmn in Wiest’'s position would not have

believed that the expense request thatally lacked a detailed agenda and

breakdown of expenses would constituteadation of one othe provisions listed

in Section 806.

Wiest 710 F.3d at 136. The lack of information ateatho the expense request was insufficient
to substantiate an objectively reasonablegbeli fraud until that information was knowidl.

The third event, at Wintergreen Resort, suffered from the same expense infirmities as the
first event and also failed to comply with Tyco’s internal control procedures because it was not
authorized by Tyco’s CEQd. at 125. According to thé/iestcourt

[tlhe averments of the Complaint suppart inference that Wiest subjectively

believed that the lack of the CEQO’s apyal, which contravened internal control

procedures, would violate one of theoyisions enumerateih Section 806.

Furthermore, it is plausible that a reasonable person in Wiest's position could

have believed that the event's approvaldmyattendee of the event, who would

therefore directly benefit from that appal, instead of by the CEO as required by

internal control procedures, may have a&ted one of the provisions contained in

Section 806.

Wiest 710 F.3d at 136.
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The Third Circuit then addressed Wiest'sdii two allegedly protected acts and found
that they did not meet the Act’s pleading standsdause they merely alleged that Wiest “raised
guestions” about the propnedf event expendituretd. at 137. Wiest failed to “specify anything
about the nature or content of his communicatiois.”™By itself, the allegation that Wiest
‘raised questions’ does not createlausible inference that loe any reasonable person in his
position would believe that expahdes on the events rose to the level of a violation of a
provision in Section 806.1d.

The Third Circuit then addressed whether Whesd a subjectively reasable belief that
fraud on shareholders was occurring. The ctaotised on two factors when deciding whether
Wiest stated a claim under the AEirst, the court consideredshexperience with the company
and the subject matter he was reporting upon. Second, the court examined the sufficiency of the
information he claimed he was provided a ttme of each of his reports or inquiries. Weest
court did not demand strict adherence to tlyalldactors of the fraud Wiest believed to have
occurred. It also did not demand that he all@gexisting or ongoing violation of an enumerated
provision.ld. at 137. Other circuits have similarly refied a requirement of rigid formulism and
specifically worded invocations of illegalitgee Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Admin. Review Bd.,
U.S. Dep't of Labor717 F.3d 1121, 1132-33 (10th Cir. 20X8plding that the complainant
sufficiently stated a claim undergt\ct because his “allegationgally amounted ta claim that
[the Vice President of Communications] had cotee@ company money to her own use” despite
never using the words “fraud” 6itlegal” in his reports).

With Wood, as with Wiest, sufficient facése presented in her complaint regarding her
subjective beliefs and her objective circumstarfoest to survive. First, much like the facts

supporting Wiest’s subjective belief of fraud, Wdwatl a great deal of experience in accounting
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and fraud detection. Wood, at the time she sgsarated from Dow, had been working for the
company for approximately twenfive (25) years. ECF No. 1 & 8. She had an advanced
degree in accounting and was a certified framdminer and certified management accountant.
Id. at § 9-10. During her time at Dow, Wood wedkin the Corporate Controller’'s Office and
alleges that she “was the first accountant De&émt Dow employed whose job duties were fully
dedicated to corporate tremg financial instruments.1d. at § 15. Further, “over her career,
[Wood’s] job duties also included working withinancial instruments, interest rates, risk
management, hedging, long-term debt, commerpapers, futures, and related financial
schedules.’ld. at 1 16. Wood’'s employment history isnegstent with an employee who would
have had extensive experience Witiancial services fraud andehypes of fraudulent activities
that could implicate a viation of federal law.

In addition to Wood’'s job experience, hemployment responsiliies are similarly
reflective of someone who would be familiaith fraudulent activity and the federal law
governing that activity. Wood alleges that shesWiequired to submit pmdic reports to the
Securities and Exchange Commission” and ésiablish an Audit Committee with various
responsibilities, includig but not limited to establishing predures for the porting of audits,
financial reporting, and the hmg of public accounting firms[.]” ECF No. 1 at § 20-21. The
Audit Committee with which Wood was involved wadso obligated to establish procedures for
receiving and treating complaints regarding atimg, internal accoumtg control and auditing
matters.” ECF No. 1 Wood was ald¢asked with “coduct[ing] internalinvestigations and
report[ing] her findings to hesupervisors, including Defendabow’s Corporate Auditor, who
in turn had statutory and regulatory obligatiots report such information to the federal

government.” ECF No. 1 at T 26. Wood alleges timamultiple occasions during the course of
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her employment she was a part of investigatbtonduct she reasonably believed constituted
violations of federal law. ECF No. 1 at { 29.

While Wood's employment responsibilisieand experience tend to corroborate her
allegation that she had a subjective belief thatconduct which she wasvestigating violated
federal law, her complaint will be dismissedife fails to specificallydentify that conduct and
establish that it was objectivelgasonable for her to believe tlainduct violated federal law. In
her complaint, Wood outlines a number of demnts the investigation of which constituted
protected activity: (1) aonstruction project which exceeded budget by $13,000,000.00 and
resulted in the retaliatory termination oDaw employee; (2) unrep@d personal expenditures
made on Mr. Liveris’ behalf by Dow whichdeo Mr. Liveris reimbursing Dow following the
investigation; (3) further persoln@xpenses of Mr. Liveris that were paid by Dow but which went
unreimbursed; (4) payments by Mr. Liveris,abigh Dow, to The Hellenitnitiative (“THI"),

Mr. Liveris’ charity and Prinkipos, a ahity owned by the Greek Orthodox Church; (5)
excessive use of the Dow corpa@t and further involvement dr. Liveris’ and Dow’s funds
with the Greek Orthodox Church and Prinkip(®;improper accounting @ctices on the Olefins
Il project to mask cost overrunand (7) financial statement frd with the Olefins Il project.
ECF No. 1 at T 30.

Once again, Wiest is instructive. Wood conduct, as allegenh the complaint, goes
beyond merely “raising questionsiid sufficiently alleges activitthat an objectively reasonable
person would believe to be a vittan of federal law. It is trughat some allegedly protected
activity can be so innocuous or trivial and as altegs relationship to shaholder interests is so
attenuated, that even if it is reasonably believed to be a violation of federal law it is not protected

activity under the ActSee Nielsen762 F.3d at 222 (citin§ylvester v. Parexel Int'l LLARB
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No. 07-123, 2011 WL 2165854, at *19 (ARB May Z8)11). These allegations, however,
include more than mere trivia or general inquiries.

Some of the allegations Bood directly implicate actity that a reasonable person,
knowing the result of her reporting, would belies@nstituted protected activity. For example,
her report regarding Mr. Liverigersonal expenses thasulted in Mr. Liveris reimbursing Dow
and publicly disclosing the reimbursementulb lead a reasonablgbjective individual to
believe the reported activity might implicate fraaghinst shareholders. The same can be said of
her reporting on the Olefins Il profecThere, Wood found that $3,800,000.00 had been
improperly accounted for in order to “hide casterruns” and was dorf&ith the approval of
senior business management.” ECF No. 1 at A8 result of these discoveries she informed
her supervisor that she believed therdé¢ofinancial services fraud occurrid. A reasonably
objective individual would not desbe such discrepancies asvia@l and could believe those
practices to be inconsistenith shareholder interests.

According to Defendant$ielsenis persuasive authority in analyzing Wood’s complaint.
In Nielsen the plaintiff's complaint was dismissedr fstating that he “reasonably believed that
defendants were committing fraud upon [their] shatders and would likely continue violating
the United States mail and wire fraud statutesisigig telephone lines and emails in furtherance
of the fraud.”Nielsen 762 F.3d at 222. Defendants are cortbet this sort of allegation is
precisely the type of baresonclusory claim that th&wombly and Igbal decisions caution
against. But that is not trueith respect to Wood' case. Wood alleges exjific instances of
conduct she believed could reasonably constituwtielation of the provisions in the Act. These
assertions are supported by a fattexplanation tha reasonable personWfood'’s training and

experience could likewise conclutteat malfeasance was implicated.
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Defendants do not specify exactly how Woodlkgations fail as a general matter to
state a claim under the Act. Dafiants state only that Wood fail® tie the alleged conduct she
reported to any of the enumeratgdtutes, relying instead oretlgeneric, conclusory allegation
that she reported ‘suspecté@udulent and unlawful actions ECF No. 14 at 19. But, as
outlined above, Wood need not siiieally allege violations othe enumerated provisions under
the Act.

Defendants’ more specific attacks on the activity which Wood allegedly believed to be
fraudulent are similarly without merit. With gpect to Wood’s claimef improper personal
expenditures and improper chabii@ contributions, Defendants alaiher allegations fail to state
a claim under the Act because they fail to statdaim under any of the enumerated provisions
of federal law found in the Act. ECF No. 1424-22. But the pleading standard under the Act is
not so demanding. Wood need only allege that dgasonably believed the activity to have
violated an enumeratqaovision, not that a viation actually occurreday v. Staples, Inc555
F.3d 42, 55 (1st Cir. 2009). Defendants claim that if the elements of the enumerated statute are
not met it is unreasonable for ardividual to believe that a vidian of the statute has occurred.
But this argument attempts an end-aroundtled relaxed pleading standards for showing
protected activity under the Act.

With respect to the Olefirlsallegation by Wood, Defendanéssert that the activities are
not significant enough to beognizable under the Act. Theyaain that “not every alleged
incident of fraudulent behavior within a corptioa can form the basis for . . . a claim [under the
Act].” ECF No. 14 at 25. Defendants cite a casen the District of New Jersey supporting the
position that the Act should not be applied toiadlidents of fraudulenactivity thatresult in

accounting misstatementSee Safarian v. Am. DG Energy Indo. CIV. 10-6082, 2014 WL
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1744989 (D.N.J. Apr. 29, 2014). But the facts Sdfarian are inapposite. Ir5afarian the
plaintiff was an engineer who threatenedetxpose “overbilling, improper construction, and
failure to obtain permits.ld. at *1. Plaintiff merely alleged, wubstantiate a reasonable belief of
a violation of one of the Act’'s enumerated proms, that “overbilling might eventually lead to
incorrect accounting records and tax submissiolas.at *4. Safarian, heever, had no contact
with the accounting department and no knowledf¢he actual accounting for the allegedly
improper billing procedures.

Here, by contrast, Wood has alleged ltiple instances of actual accounting
misstatement, one of which waassociated with the Olefins Il project. According to her
complaint “project managers were purposefullgving expenses to capital to hide cost overruns
with the approval of senior business mamaget.” ECF No. 1 at { 30. Again, these are
allegations made by an experienced fraud inga&ir with accounting experience, not a product
engineer. Defendants’ reliance $afarianis misplaced.

In light of the foregoing, Wood’s complaint dorot fail to alleggrotected activity upon
which she may state a claim for relief under the Act.

B.

Defendants also attack the second prongMafod’s prima facie case under the Act.
Wood claims that Defendants Liveris and Kalii, their individual capacities, directed her
termination in retaliation for her protected aittivIn this respect, Defendants contest only the
knowledge Defendants Liveris and Kalil had of Wood’s allegedly proteatidty. ECF No. 14
at ii. At this stage, Defendants do not claim tBatv, the incorporated entity, was unaware of

her allegedly protected acts. Witbspect to this element, Deftants claim that Wood “fails to
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plausibly allege that either individual knew ofr tedlegedly protected actty or participated in
any adverse employment action against hekr.”

When alleging that a named individual defant engaged in rét@ory conduct under
the Act, a plaintiff must allege that thedividual defendant hadnkwledge of plaintiff's
protected activitySee Wiest v. LynciiNo. 10-3288, 2014 WL 1490250, *t6 (E.D. Pa. Apr.
16, 2014). To draw such a connection, there musubfecient facts outlinedn the complaint to
justify an inference that the individual defentsa knew of plaintiff'sprotected activity and
directed her terminationd. Where a complaint lacks sufficiericts to justify such an inference,
circumstantial evidence of knowledge on the mdrindividual defendantsvill not sustain the
complaint against a motion to dismiss. at *17.

Wood'’s allegations against Mriveris meet this standard. Helaims are reducible to the
allegation that Mr. Liveris is Dow’s CEO and tlsdte conducted investigans of Mr. Liveris’
activities, particularly activigs involving his family, and thdtte reasonably knew of her conduct
and directed her termination. Wood does tiega Mr. Liveris had actal knowledge of Wood’s
activities. But the pleading standard under Hezleral Rules of Civil Procedure are not so
demanding.

For Wood'’s claims against Mr. Liveris to siww, Wood need only allege sufficient facts
in her complaint from which it could be inferrtdtht Mr. Liveris had knovddge of her protected
activities and played a role in the adse employment action taken against I8&elgbal, 556
U.S. at 678 (“A claim has facial gulsibility when the plaintiff gads factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasdna inference that the defendais liable for the misconduct
alleged.”) “Asking for plausible grounds to infi&@nowledge on the part of Mr. Liveris] does not

impose a probability requirement thie pleading stage; it simpballs for enough fact to raise a
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reasonable expectation that discoverlf reveal evidenceof [knowledge.]”Twombly 550 U.S.

at 556. Wood'’s investigations were not just feed on the conduct of some mid-level managers
that may or may not have been brought te #ttention of upper management. They were
focused on the Chief Executive Officer himsé¥fost notably, one of Wood’s investigations
allegedly led to Mr. Liveris reimbursing Dowrfanonies the company had expended on matters
deemed personal. The reimbursement wasliggybreported to Dow’s shareholders. The
complaint contains sufficient facts to permit thaysible inference that stovery could lead to
evidence of wrongdoing on the part of Mr. LiveerHis motion to dismiss will be denied.

Wood's allegations concerning Defendaalil's knowledge of her activities and
participation in the adverse employment actions she suffered in large part mirror those made
against Mr. Liveris. Moreover, Wood alleges that “reporting relationships” were reorganized
and resulted in her reporting tbe legal department, headeg Mr. Kalil. ECF No. 1 at { 39.
Furthermore, she specifically alleges that “Defendant Kalil . . . told Plaintiff’'s supervisor that he
‘wanted her fired.”” ECF No. 1 at § 33. As withetlclaims against Mr. keris, the facts Wood
alleges regarding her reorganized reporting relatipssare sufficient to permit an inference of
plausibility that Mr. Kalil had knowledge of hexctivities. Plaintiff's allegations about Mr.
Kalil's comment expressing his desire for Wootdsmination bolsters this inference. Mr. Kalil's
motion to dismiss will also be denied.

C.

Defendants’ second claim in their motion to dismiss is that Wood’'s “allegations
regarding alleged harassment axhstructive discharge are insgféint to establish an ‘adverse
employment action’ under [the Af ECF No. 14 at ii. Wood, in response, claims that she does

not allege merely constructive dischardrather, she claims that she has:
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. identified four materially adve¥sactions: (1) threatening and harassing
statements regarding Plaintiff's investigns; (2) reassignméfrom an ongoing
investigation, THI; (3) reorganizing &htiff's reporting réationship, requiring
her to report her investigations to iéaGordon of the Legal Department, who
directly reported to Defendant Kalil; afdl) actual and/or ewstructive discharge.

ECF No. 19 at 28.In reply, Defendants tain their focus on Wood’s alleged constructive
discharge. ECF No. 23 at 6. Thus, Defendantstionowill be construed literally: as relating
only to Wood’s claim that her constructive discharge is sufficient to state a claim for retaliation
under the Act and not addresspod’s other claims of adv&e employment action, including
actual discharge.

The test for constructive disarge in the Sarbanes-Oxlegntext was addressed by the
Tenth Circuit inLockheed Martin“Constructive discharge occunghen an employer unlawfully
creates working conditions so intolerable thateasonable person in the employee’s position
would feel forced to resign. Thegnhtiff’'s burden is substantiall’ockheed Martin717 F.3d at
1133; see also Pennsylvani@tate Police v. Suder§42 U.S. 129, 146-150 (2004) (applying
same intolerableness standard in Title Vihext). The Sixth Circuit employs an identical
constructive discharge sidard in other contextSeeMcKelvey v. Sec’y of U.S. Armg50 F.
App’x 532, 535 (6th Cir. 2011) (applying same Ietableness standard in Rehabilitation Act
context). In the Sixth Ccuit the question of cotrsictive discharge is at least partly one of law
and also involves “some inquiigto the employer’s int& and the reasonablgreseeable impact
of its conduct on the employeé/Nheeler v. Southland Corp875 F.2d 1246, 1249 (6th Cir.
1989) (quotingYates v. Avco Corp819 F.2d 630, 636-37 (6th Cir. 1987)). A court must
consider the totality of the circumstances wlistermining whether a constructive discharge

occurredLockheed Martin717 F.3d at 1133.

* Importantly, the circumstances surroundingddfs separation from Dow are not entirely clear.
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“The test deliberately ‘sets a high bar,” as thw generally expects employees to remain
on the job while pursuing relief from harassmemiitKelvey v. Sec’y of U.S. Arpg50 F.
App’x 532, 535 (6th Cir. 2011) (quotirgorter v. Erie Foods, IntI576 F.3d 629, 639-40 (7th
Cir. 2009). The Sixth Circuit has outlined seven factors to consider when determining whether a
reasonable person would have felt coligokto resign under the circumstances:
(1) demaotion; (2) reduction in salary;)(8duction in job rgponsibilities; (4)
reassignment to menial or degradiwgrk; (5) reassignmento work under a
younger supervisor; (6) badgering, rsmaent, or humiliation by the employer
calculated to encourage the employeessignation; or (7) offers of early

retirement or continued employment mms less favorable than the employee’s
former status.

Logan v. Denny’s, In¢259 F.3d 558, 569 (6th Cir. 2001).

Defendants claim that Wood fails to pleadfisient facts to meet this standard. In
Wood’s reply to Defendants motion she focueasa number of adverse employment actions
which she includes in her complaint. Importéot current purposes is whether any of those
actions, independently or together, m#ét standard of constructive dischargé&/ood claims
that the aggregate effect okethunfavorable personnel actions” she suffered, including being told
that she was to be terminated, amounted totamts/e discharge. ECF No. 14 at 13. She alleges
that she was subject to “numerous threatenimjaarharassing statements”, reassignment “away
from ongoing investigations”,na reorganization of her “reporg relationships by requiring
[her] to report her investigatory adties to the legal departmentid. These allegations are,

however, wholly conclusory and without sufficielactual substance to support her claims. The

® It should be noted here that Wood also alleges actual discharge, but the complaint and Defendants’
motion to dismiss are curiously bereft of information sufficient to determine the exact nature of her separation from
Dow. Both parties refer to her departure alternatively paraion, termination, and retirement. It is not disputed
that Wood was informed on October 10, 2013 that her employment would be terminated by October 31, 2013. What
the parties’ papers do not indicate is what the natuheioeparation was between those two dates. There is some
evidence that Wood was offered a ganee package but it is not clear wieat she eventually accepted it or not.
Furthermore, it is not clear whether her separation was styled as retirement, discharge, or voluntary separation
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only allegation supported by specific factual infatran is her claim that she was subject to
threatening and harassing statements.
Wood offers four specific instances tifireats and harassment to which she was
subjected:
(@) That following Plaintiff's reports on the Customers Events Compliance
Investigation, Plaintiff was instructed by a supervisor Greg Groholski

“that nothing from the C@'’s past was to be loo#leat again and that the
investigation was over.”

(b) That following Plaintiff's third THI Report, dated August 2, 2013,
Defendant Kalil, told Plaintiff’'s supervisor that he “wanted her fired.”

(©) That another of Plaintiff's superaeis, Jeff Tate, instructed Plaintiff to
“back off the investigation” pertaing to Defendant LIVERIS and that
“nothing was going to be done’ith Plaintiff's THI reports.

(d) That the day after Plaintiff reged to her immediate supervisor, Mr.
Solano, that the Olefins Il investigari revealed financial statement fraud,
Plaintiff was informed that heemployment would end on October 31,
2013.

ECF No. 1 at 9. Reasonable jtsocould not differ as to vdther Wood was constructively
discharged on the basis of the first three allegatitncidents (a) and (c) dwt appear to be any
more than instruction from supervisors as te sicope and conduct of rhb responsibilities.
Without any further indication®f threatening or harassinigehavior, two comments from
supervisors, without any tempom@ntext, does not meet the higar for constructie discharge.
Similarly, incident (b) does notlage enough factual information determine that it rises to the
level of discharge. While Wood does clainattther job reporting wasedirected through the
legal department, she does not allege that dzfiet Kalil possessed the authority to terminate
her employment. Absent such an allegation, inciflents no more than a hortatory directive by

an individual with no power over Wood’s employment.
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This leaves incident (d). Wood claims thaingeinformed she is to be terminated creates
the type of intolerable working condition thaetbonstructive discharge doctrine is designed to
guard against. At lea®ne court disagreeSee Hill v. St. Louis Uniy923 F. Supp. 1199, 1209
(E.D. Mo. 1996) (“It is clear #t it was not her working conditas that “forced” plaintiff to
resign, but rather being informed that sivas being terminated from her employment.
Consequently, merely being informed of termination cannot constitute a ‘constructive
discharge’.”) The court irHill noted that the plaintiff “off¢ed] no legal support for her
contention that notice of termination andhoosing to resign instead is a ‘constructive
discharge’.”ld. This Court is likewise aware of no such authotitijl, however, is unpersuasive
in light of the Sixth Circuit’s test for constrine discharge and theadtors to be considered
under that test. Being informed of impendingrtmation two days after making a significant
report of fraud could create conditions intolerable to a reasonable employee.

Wood reported on October 8, 2013 that Dow had engaged in accounting practices related
to the Olefins project that made “it appeaattthe project had not gone over budget.” ECF No. 1,
Ex. A at 18. Two days after this report Woodswald that her employment will end on October
31, 20131d. In the period after she was informedhefr impending terminaih she was told on
numerous occasions by her supervisor that stleethfor a [severance] package” despite making
clear that she made no such requkkt.‘Over her protest, [Woddwas provided a severance
package.”ld. The claims that her supervisors cantlly informed her that she would be
provided a severance packagesmite her informing them shedinot desire severance or a
package, could suggest Dow intended to terminate Wood and sought to incent a voluntary
termination. Taken together, tlaleged conduct is sufficient tstate a claim of constructive

discharge.
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D.

Defendants next claim that Wood’'s “complaifails to allege a plausible causal
connection between [her] alleggdirotected activity and her septon from the Dow Chemical
Company[.]” ECF No. 14 at ii. Tetate a claim for relief under ti#ect, a plaintiff must allege
that “the protected activity was a contributirggtior in the unfavorable [employment] action”
suffered by the plaintiffNielsen 762 F.3d at 219. A “contributing factor” “mean(s] any factor
which, alone or in connection withther factors, tends to affeict any way the outcome of the
decision.”Marano v. Dep’t of Justice2 F.3d 1137, 1140 (Fed. Cit993) (quoting 135 Cong.
Rec. 5033 (1989) (Explanatory Statement on S. 20)is test is specifically intended to
overrule existing case law, which requires a tddower to prove that his protected conduct
was a ‘significant’, ‘motivating’, ‘substantial’, or ‘predominant’ factor in a personnel action in
order to overturn that action[.Jd. “This element is broad and forgiving[.Fockheed Martin,
717 F.3d at 1136.

To show a “causal connection” a plaintiff, thie pleading stage must allege sufficient
facts “to raise the inference ah the protected activity waa contributing factor in the
unfavorable action."Wiest v. Lynch710 F.3d 121, 129 (3d Cir. 2013) (citing 29 C.F.R.
§ 1980.104(e)(2)(i)—(iv)). The facts necessary to substantiate an inference of contribution “does
not impose a probability requirement at the pleadingestagimply calls fo enough fact to raise
a reasonable expectation that discovery velleal evidence” o& causal connectiomwombly
550 U.S. at 556. “Temporal proximity between the protected activity and adverse employment
action may alone be sufficient to sdyi the contributing factor testllockheed Martin717 F.3d
at 1136 (citingVan Asdale v. Int'l Game Tec¢hb77 F.3d 989, 1003 (9th Cir.200Ntarx v.

Schnuck Mkts., Inc.76 F.3d 324, 329 (10th Cir.1996)ho{ding mere temporal proximity
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sufficient on direct review of Administratv Review Board decisiom case brought under
Sarbanes-Oxley’s whistleblower provision); comphatosky v. Morrison-Knudsen Corpl03
F.3d 129 (6th Cir. 1996) (holding “the mere factthdverse employmeattions occurred after
plaintiff engaged in protected adtivis insufficient to support amference of retaliation” at the
summary judgment stagof ADEA action),Cooper v. City of N. Olmsted@95 F.2d 1265, 1272-
73 (6th Cir. 1986) (holding temporal proximitysurficient on review of district court judgment
in Title VII action). “But temporal proximity alone issuallyinsufficient to constitute evidence
that would prove that an employer retaliategainst an employee for engaging in alleged
protected activity.’Riddle v. First Tennessee Bank, Nat. As497 F. App’x 588, 596 (6th Cir.
2012) (hearing case on appeal frormsuary judgment) (emphasis added).

According to Defendants, Wood'’s “allegationd ta raise a plausilel inference that her
reporting activity was the cause of any advensgloyment action.” ECF No. 14 at 10. But this
statement is not the si@dard by which Wood’s complaint is teston this issuaVood need only
plead sufficient facts, taken &wsie, that support the inferenteat her whistleblowing activity
“tended to affect [her] termination in at least some wayeldman v. Law Enforcement
Associates Corp.752 F.3d 339, 348-49 (4th Cir. 2014)tRnother way, Wood need only show
that her protected activity “pf@d a role in” her dismissaMarano v. Dep'’t of Justice2 F.3d
1137, 1140-41 (Fed. Cir. 1993)

In Wood’s complaint she alleges théfollowing several of [her] reports and
investigations, Defendants and their employeei@a agents made threatening and intimidating
comments towards [her.]” ECF No. 1 at T 33rtkermore, she alleges that “following [her]
reporting of financial statement fraud of Ooer 9, 2013 . . . on the next day October 10, 2013,

[she] was informed that her employment widbfendant Dow would be terminated on October
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31, 2013.”Id. at § 34. Defendants find tleesllegations unpersuasivérst, Defendants claim
that a number of the reports referenced by Wooahéd a part of reporig activity that “began
four years before her separation from Do&CF No. 14 at 11. Speaifally, Defendants aver
that Wood’s report on Mr. Liveris’'s personal expensesas issued . . . almost three and a half
years before” her adverse empiognt action and her perting related to The Hellenic Initiative
and the Greek Orthodox Churclokoplace “in September 2012, stitiore than a year before her
alleged termination.Id.

According to Defendants, this temporal proiy is too attenuated to substantiate the
fourth prong of a retaliation clainnder the Act. Defendants statatthcourts in this Circuit and
elsewhere have routinely held that temporal ssmms far shorter thatihe four years at issue
here are too attenuated to suppam inference of causationld. While this is correct, Wood
does not allege a temporal gap of four years. 8leges that her protected activity began on that
date, but continued up until the day slatends her employment was terminateeeECF No.

1, Ex. A at 7-18. Courts have found periodstiofie similar to many of those in Wood’s
complaint as sufficient tmeet the contributing factsequirement under the A&ee Wiest710
F.3d 121 (3d Cir. 2013) (approving of a series otgrted activities initiated three years before
termination). Taking Wood’s allegations as tras, this Court must, her complaint meets the
requirements of establishing a sufficientlyos® temporal proximity between her protected
activity and her constructive termination tatst a claim for relief. While many of Wood’s
allegedly protected acts occurred in advancbesftermination, at least one allegedly occurred
the day before she was told her employment was at an end.

But Defendants are not satisfied with tlakegation, either. écording to Defendants

“Plaintiffs complaint contains no allegations to explain how a report submitted to her direct
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supervisor was somehow commeatied up the chain and resulted in a corporate decision by
Dow, its CEO, and its General Counseltéwminate her in undetwenty-four hours.” ECF
No. 14 at 12. Defendants believe that Woodksathe Court to simultaneously accept two
contradictory propositions:” that her terminatizvas both long in the making and the result of
swift and immediate actiomd. at 12-13. But at the pleading stage Wood need not allege how the
report reached individuals witheélauthority to terminate her emgment and that they chose to
do so. She need only allege facts sufficient doplausible inference to be drawn that her
reporting contributed to her temation. This, she has done. Courts have found that a one day
gap between a protectedtivity and termination is not too short a time period from which to
infer a causal connection between the t®ee, e.g.Kalkunte v. DVI Financial Services, INC.
and AP Services, LLONo. 2004-SOX-00056, 2005 WL 4889006,*46 (U.S. Dept. of Labor
SAROX July 18, 2005) (one weeljtalloum v. Intel CorporationNo. 2003-SOX-0007, 2004
WL 5032613, at *16 (U.S. Dept. of Labor SARMMarch 4, 2004) (citing instances where
inferences of causation were drafvom anywhere between twoydaand one year). It is not
implausible that discovery could lead to infation that tends to pve the communication of
Wood’s report to the Defendants and that a slewito terminate her employment was made
within a twenty-bur hour period.
V.
Accordingly, it isORDERED that Defendants Dow Chéral Company, Andrew N.

Liveris, and Charles J. Kalil's Mon to Dismiss, ECF No. 14, BENIED.

Dated: December 15, 2014 s/Thomasudington
THOMASL. LUDINGTON
UnitedState<District Judge

-28-



-29-



